

PREVENTION OF MOTHER-TO-CHILD TRANSMISSION OF HEPATITIS B VIRUS: GUIDELINES ON ANTIVIRAL PROPHYLAXIS IN PREGNANCY

JULY 2020





PREVENTION OF MOTHER-TO-CHILD TRANSMISSION OF HEPATITIS B VIRUS: GUIDELINES ON ANTIVIRAL PROPHYLAXIS IN PREGNANCY

JULY 2020

GUIDELINES

Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus: guidelines on antiviral prophylaxis in pregnancy

ISBN 978-92-4-000270-8 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-000271-5 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2020

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for noncommercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus: guidelines on antiviral prophylaxis in pregnancy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Printed in Switzerland.

Design and layout: 400.co.uk

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	viii
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	ix
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	x
 CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION 1.1 Progress and challenges with hepatitis B virus (HBV) elimination 1.2 The role of prevention of mother-to-child transmission in HBV elimination 1.3 Objectives 1.4 New developments and rationale for an updated recommendation 	1 1 2 3 3
1.5 Target audience1.6 Scope of the guidelines1.7 Related guidelines1.8 Guiding principles	4 4 5
 CHAPTER 2. METHODOLOGY 2.1 WHO guidelines development process 2.2 Formulation of recommendations 2.3 Roles 2.4 Management of conflicts of interest 2.5 Dissemination and monitoring of implementation of the guidelines 2.6 Evidence and information that guided the recommendations 2.6.1 Systematic review and meta-analysis 2.6.2 Modelling and cost-effectiveness analysis 2.6.3 Assessment of feasibility, values and preferences 	6 6 7 8 9 9 9 9
CHAPTER 3. RECOMMENDATIONS 3.1 Tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV 3.1.1 Summary of the evidence 3.1.2 Rationale for the recommendation 3.1.3 Implementation considerations 3.1.4 Research gaps	11 11 12 14 18 19

3.2 Use of HBeAg testing to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis	
(in settings in which antenatal HBV DNA testing is not available)	20
3.2.1 Summary of the evidence	20
3.2.2 Rationale for the recommendation	21
3.2.3 Implementation considerations	23
3.2.4 Research gaps	23
CHAPTER 4. IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS	24
4.1 General considerations and principles	24
4.1.1 Prevalence of chronic HBV infection	24
4.1.2 Prevalence of eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis	
in HBV-infected women of childbearing age	24
4.1.3 Infant immunization coverage	25
4.1.4 Timely birth dose coverage	25
4.1.5 Availability of commodities	25
4.1.6 Experience with peripartum prophylaxis	26
4.2 Regional considerations	26
4.2.1 African Region	26
4.2.2 Region of the Americas	27
4.2.3 Eastern Mediterranean Region	27
4.2.4 European Region	27
4.2.5 South-East Asia Region	28
4.2.6 Western Pacific Region	28
CHAPTER 5. MONITORING AND EVALUATION	32
5.1 Core indicators from the Global Health Sector Strategy on viral hepatitis	32
5.2 Additional indicators that can guide programme implementation	32
5.3 Measuring progress towards elimination	34
5.4 Dissemination of the monitoring and evaluation framework	34
REFERENCES	37
Web annexes	

Annex 1: Decision making table and systematic review report, PICO 1

Annex 2: Decision making table and systematic review report, PICO 2

Annex 3: Impact modelling and cost-effectiveness analysis

Annex 4: Values and preference consultations

Annex 5: Framework for regional verification of the global control goal

for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) prevalence in children by 2020

Annex 6: Summary of declared interests

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many individuals from a range of backgrounds and specialties have contributed to the development of this guidance. WHO is sincerely grateful for their time and support.

Guidelines Development Group

The chairs of the Guidelines Development Group were Indri Oktaria Sukmaputri (Ministry of Health, Indonesia) and Ramatoulie Njie (International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), Republic of the Gambia). Roger Chou (Oregon Health & Science University, USA) was the guidelines methodologist.

The following experts served on the Guidelines Development Group: Rakesh Aggarwal (Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research, India); Benjamin Cowie (The Peter Doherty Institute for Infection and Immunity, Australia); Manal El-Sayed (Ain Shams University, Egypt); Fernanda Fernandes Fonseca (Ministry of Health, Brazil); Alice Guingané (Centre Hospitallier Universitaire Ougadougou, Burkina Faso); Gonzague Jourdain (French National Research Institute for Sustainable Development, France; Chiang Mai University, Thailand); Elizabeth Mason (University College London, United Kingdom); Hiromi Obara (National Center for Global Health and Medicine, Japan); Deborah Odoh (Ministry of Health, Nigeria); Huma Qureshi (Pakistan Health Research Council, Pakistan); Olivier Segeral (Agence Nationale de Recherche sur le Sida et les hépatites virales, Cambodia); Sarah Schillie (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA); Su Wang (Center for Asian Health, USA); Cihan Yurdaydin (Koc University Medical School, Turkey).

External peer review group

The following experts served as external peer reviewers of the draft guidelines document: Adele Benzaken (AIDS Healthcare Foundation, Brazil), Nikoloz Chkhartishvili (Infectious Diseases, AIDS and Clinical Immunology Research Center, Georgia), Merceline Dahl-Regis (Ministry of Health, the Bahamas), Serge Eholie (Treichville University Teaching Hospital, Côte d'Ivoire), Shaffiq Essajee (UNICEF, USA), Xu Fujie (Zhejiang University, China), Zheng Hui (Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention, China), Michelle Giles (Monash University, Australia), Kathy Jackson (Victorian Infectious Diseases Reference Laboratory, Australia), Karen Kyuregyan (Ministry of Health, Russia), Alice Lee (Hepatitis B free, Australia), Seng Gee Lim (National University Hospital, Singapore), Maya Malarski (Gavi, The Vaccine Alliance, Switzerland), Christian Ramers (Clinton Health Access Initiative [CHAI], USA), Samuel So (Stanford University, USA), Mark Sonderup (University of Cape Town, South Africa), Takeshi Terashima (Kanazawa University, Japan), Gilles Wandeler (University of Bern, Switzerland).

WHO Steering Group

Marc Bulterys, Philippa Easterbrook, Yvan Hutin, Judith van Holten, Morkor Newman (Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes), Shalini Desai (Expanded Programme on Immunization), Melanie Taylor (Reproductive Health and Research), Anne Brink, Naoko Ishikawa, Po-Lin Chan (WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific), Julien Kabore, Lesi Olufunmilayo (WHO Regional Office for Africa), Leandro Sereno (WHO Regional Office for the Americas).

WHO staff and consultants

The following WHO staff and consultants contributed to developing these guidelines: Marc Bulterys, Philippa Easterbrook, Cui Fuqiang, Yvan Hutin, Judith van Holten (Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes), Oyuntungalag Namjilsuren (Communications support), Po-Lin Chan (WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific), Joumana Hermez (WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean), Olufunmilayo Lesi (WHO Regional Office for Africa), Antons Mozalevskis (Regional Office for Europe), BB Rewari (WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia), Leandro Sereno (WHO Regional Office for the Americas), Lydia Kawanguzi and Laurent Poulain provided administrative support.

Overall coordination and writing

Judith van Holten coordinated the overall guidelines development process and drafted the document, supervised by Marc Bulterys and Yvan Hutin, and under the leadership of Andrew Ball.

Editing

The final draft was edited by Bandana Malhotra.

Evidence review teams

We would like to credit the following researchers for conducting the systematic reviews, evidence profiles and GRADE tables for the recommendations: Yusuke Shimakawa, Pauline Boucheron, Anna Funk (Institut Pasteur, France), Ying Lu, Tianshuo Zhao (Peking University, China) and Kyoko Yoshida (Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Japan).

Modelling

Modelling on the impact and cost–effectiveness was done by Shevanthi Nayagam and Timothy Hallett (Imperial College London, UK).

Funding

Funding for the development of these guidelines was provided by the Government of Germany and by the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ART	antiretroviral therapy
CDC	United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CI	confidence interval
DALY	disability-adjusted life year
EPI	Expanded Programme on Immunization
EMTCT	elimination of mother-to-child transmission
GHSS	Global Health Sector Strategy
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
GRC	(WHO) Guidelines Review Committee
HBeAg	hepatitis B e antigen
HBIG	hepatitis B immune globulin
HBsAg	hepatitis B surface antigen
HBV	hepatitis B virus
HCV	hepatitis C virus
HDV	hepatitis D virus
HCC	hepatocellular carcinoma
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
NAT	nucleic acid test
OR	odds ratio
PICO	Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes
PMTCT	prevention of mother-to-child transmission
RDT	rapid diagnostic test
SAGE	(WHO) Strategic Advisory Group of Experts (on Immunization)
TDF	tenofovir disoproxil fumarate
UK	United Kingdom
UNICEF	The United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organization

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Chronic HBV infection	Persistence of HBsAg for six months or more after initial infection with HBV
Clinical/diagnostic sensitivity	Ability of a test to correctly identify those with the infection or disease
Clinical/diagnostic specificity	Ability of a test to correctly identify those without the infection or disease
Cirrhosis	Extensive liver scarring secondary to prolonged inflammation of the liver (F4 in the METAVIR scoring system)
HBV DNA	Hepatitis B virus (HBV) viral genomes that can be detected and quantified in serum
Tenofovir prophylaxis	Use of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) to prevent mother- to-child transmission of HBV
Peripartum prophylaxis	Initiation of prophylaxis from 28 weeks of pregnancy until at least birth

^{*} HBV DNA correlates with levels of circulating viral particles. HBV DNA is measured as IU/mL or copies/mL. 1 IU/mL ~ 5.3 copies/mL, and so values given as copies/mL can be converted to IU/mL by dividing by a factor of 5. (i.e. 10 000 copies/mL = 2000 IU/mL; 100 000 copies/mL = 20 000 IU/mL; 1 million copies/mL = 200 000 IU/mL).

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

WHO estimates that in 2015, 257 million people were living with chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection worldwide, and that 900 000 had died from HBV infection, mostly as a result of cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma. Most HBV-associated deaths among adults are secondary to infections acquired at birth or in the first five years of life. In May 2016, the World Health Assembly endorsed the Global Health Sector Strategy on viral hepatitis, which calls for the elimination of viral hepatitis as a public health threat by 2030 (defined as a 90% reduction in incidence of new infections and a 65% reduction in mortality). Elimination of HBV infection as a public health threat requires a reduction in the prevalence of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) to below 0.1% in children 5 years of age. This can be achieved through universal immunization of newborns against hepatitis B and other interventions to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV.

Rationale for updating the recommendations on prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV to address peripartum prophylaxis with antivirals

The WHO position papers on immunization recommend that all infants receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 24 hours, and that the birth dose be followed by two or three doses of hepatitis B vaccine at least four weeks apart to complete the primary series. Immunization against hepatitis B starting at birth is the foundation of the prevention of perinatal and horizontal transmission of HBV. In 2015, in the WHO Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection, no recommendation was made for the additional use of antiviral therapy to prevent mother-to-child HBV transmission. This was because of the still limited and low quality evidence base with several ongoing trials, and the lack of consensus as to the programmatic implications of a policy for more widespread use of antivirals in pregnancy. Three key developments prompted the consideration to now include the use of antiviral prophylaxis for pregnant women with HBV infection as an additional measure to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. First, further evidence has become available on the efficacy and safety of antiviral prophylaxis in pregnant women and their children. Second, WHO has received requests from countries and regions with already high birth dose and infant vaccination coverage for updated guidance on the use of peripartum prophylaxis. Third, data from epidemiological studies and modelling suggest that infant vaccination alone would be insufficient to reach the 0.1% HBsAg prevalence goal in children by 2030, and that peripartum prophylaxis may also be needed.

Methods

In accordance with the procedures established by its Guidelines Review Committee (GRC), WHO commissioned systematic reviews, impact modelling and a costeffectiveness analysis. A regionally representative and multidisciplinary Guidelines Development Group (GDG) met in September 2019 to formulate the recommendations using the GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation) approach. Evidence to inform the recommendations included two commissioned systematic reviews and meta-analyses, impact and cost-effectiveness modelling, an assessment of the overall balance of benefits and harms (at individual and population levels), patient/health worker values and preferences, resource use, cost-effectiveness, considerations on equity and human rights, and feasibility across the different WHO regions.

Summary of recommendations

Existing recommendations on immunization from the WHO position paper 2017 (6)

- a) All infants should receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 24 hours;
- b) Delivery of hepatitis B vaccine within 24 hours of birth should be a performance indicator for all immunization programmes, and reporting and monitoring systems should be strengthened to improve the quality of data on the birth dose;
- c) The birth dose should be followed by two or three doses to complete the primary series.

Existing recommendation on testing of pregnant women for HIV and syphilis from the 2019 *Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services (22)*, and for hepatitis B from the 2017 WHO *Guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing (23)*

All pregnant women should be tested for HIV, syphilis and hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)^{*} at least once and as early as possible in the pregnancy (HIV standing recommendation since 2007; syphilis: *strong recommendation, moderate-quality evidence;* HBsAg^{*}: *strong recommendation, low-quality evidence)*.

* Particularly in settings with a ≥2% seroprevalence in the general population.

Tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV

New recommendation

WHO recommends that pregnant women testing positive for HBV infection (HBsAg positive) with an HBV DNA \ge 5.3 log₁₀ IU/mL (\ge 200,000 IU/mL)¹ receive tenofovir prophylaxis from the 28th week of pregnancy until at least birth, to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. This is in addition to three-dose hepatitis B vaccination in all infants, including timely birth dose *(conditional recommendation, moderate quality of evidence)*.

Use of HBeAg testing, where HBV DNA testing is not available, to determine treatment eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV

New recommendation

WHO recommends that in settings in which antenatal HBV DNA testing is not available, HBeAg testing can be used as an alternative to HBV DNA testing to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV² (conditional recommendation, moderate quality of evidence).

Implementation considerations

- Universal immunization of infants with hepatitis B vaccine, including a timely birth dose, is the foundation of programmes to prevent HBV infection at birth and in the first years of life. Countries that have not yet reached the 2020 goal of 1% HBsAg prevalence among children aged 5 years through vaccination need to focus their efforts on increasing their vaccination coverage, including timely birth dose.
- The clinical trials that evaluated the efficacy and safety of tenofovir prophylaxis also included hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG) as an additional preventive strategy in both trial arms. In a number of settings (mostly in high income countries) where it is available, HBIG is used in

¹ HBV DNA ≥5.3 log₁₀ IU/mL is equivalent to ≥200 000 IU/mL.

² The performance of HBeAg testing suggests that it is an acceptable alternative to diagnosing HBV DNA ≥5.3 log₁₀ IU/mL.

addition to hepatitis B vaccination, including birth dose, to reduce the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HBV. However, HBIG is a blood product that has to be screened for infectious diseases. The costs are high, a cold chain is required and HBIG can be in short supply. In low and middle-income setting, it may only be available when purchased by individuals.

- As many countries are working towards dual elimination of perinatal HIV and syphilis infection, there are opportunities for efficiency gains and integration to also include elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HBV. Two WHO regions (Region of the Americas and the Western Pacific Region) already have plans and a framework for triple elimination.
- Programmes to test and treat eligible pregnant women for HBV infection need to be implemented in the context of universal health coverage, aiming for covering the highest proportion of women while reducing financial hardship.
- Testing of pregnant women needs to take place under circumstances that prevents stigma and discrimination and provides post-test counselling and education on measures to reduce the risk of transmitting HBV to the infant, encourage partner testing and ensure linkage to care of HBsAg positive women.
- Clinical assessment should include an evaluation of whether HBsAg-positive pregnant women would be eligible for antiviral treatment for their own health. However, in accordance with criteria in the 2015 WHO *Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection (20)*, only a small proportion of women of childbearing age would be eligible for long-term treatment.
- HBV DNA quantification is the reference method to identify those HBsAgpositive pregnant women with a high viral load most at risk of transmitting HBV to their infants. Access to HBV DNA quantification (in terms of costs and availability of testing platforms) remains limited in low-income settings. Continuing efforts are needed to increase access to HBV DNA testing and reduce costs.
- Diagnostic tests used need to meet quality, safety and performance standards (with regard to analytical, diagnostic and clinical sensitivity and specificity).³

³ Assays should meet minimum acceptance criteria of either WHO prequalification of in vitro diagnostics (IVDs) or a stringent regulatory review for IVDs. All IVDs should be used in accordance with manufacturers' instructions for use and, where possible, at testing sites enrolled in a national or international external quality assessment scheme.

Algorithm on maternal and infant interventions for prevention of mother-to-child transmission, and assessment of eligibility of mother for treatment for her own health

(Based on these guidelines and the 2015 Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection¹.



Abbreviations: ALT: alanine aminotransferase; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCC: hepatocellular carcinoma: HBeAg: hepatitis B e antigen; HBIG: hepatitis B immune globulin; HBsAg: hepatitis B surface antigen; RDT: rapid diagnostic test ¹ Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection;

- https://www.who.int/hepatitis/publications/hepatitis-b-guidelines/en/
- ² At least once and as early as possible in the pregnancy

⁴ Hepatitis B timely (within 24 hours) birth dose vaccination of the infant followed by 2 or 3 doses of hepatitis B vaccine should be given regardless of HBsAg status of the pregnant mother.

³ Using clinical criteria and non-invasive tests (APRI score > 2 in adults or Fibroscan)

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Progress in and challenges to HBV elimination

WHO estimates that in 2015, hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection caused 900 000 deaths, mostly through the development of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (1). WHO also estimated that in 2015, 257 million people were living with chronic HBV infection worldwide, placing them at risk of serious illness and death from cirrhosis and HCC (1). The burden of HBV infection remains disproportionately high in low- and middle-income countries. Approximately 70% of the 257 million people living with HBV infection live in areas where HBV infection is highly endemic, particularly in parts of Asia and Africa. In highly endemic regions, most of the burden of chronic HBV infection comes from infection acquired soon after birth or during early childhood (2). Persons infected after the age of 5 years rarely develop chronic infection.

In May 2016, the World Health Assembly endorsed the Global Health Sector Strategy (GHSS) on viral hepatitis, which proposes the elimination of viral hepatitis as a public health threat by 2030 (3). Elimination is defined as a 90% reduction in incidence and a 65% reduction in mortality, compared with the 2015 baseline. The prevalence of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) in children 5 years of age is considered a surrogate indicator of the cumulative incidence of chronic HBV infections (4). In accordance with the GHSS on viral hepatitis, the pathway to the impact target of a reduction in incidence includes a prevalence of HBsAg under 1% in children 5 years of age by 2020 and under 0.1% by 2030. To reduce the incidence of chronic HBV infection, WHO has recommended inclusion of the hepatitis B vaccine in the Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) since 1992 (5). In 2017, the latest update of the WHO position paper recommended universal immunization of infants, with three or four doses of hepatitis B vaccine, and the first dose of hepatitis B vaccine given as soon as possible after birth (within 24 hours) (6). The birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine constitutes post-exposure prophylaxis to prevent transmission to infants exposed to HBV during birth and initiates the first dose of a series of immunizations that will confer long-term protection against HBV infection.

The three- or four-dose hepatitis B vaccination series, including a timely birth dose, is the foundation on which other interventions to reduce perinatal transmission can be built (*see* Fig. 1). Major progress in the global response to HBV infection has been made through the expansion of routine hepatitis B vaccination (2018 third dose coverage: 84%) (7). However, birth dose coverage remains heterogeneous (2018 coverage: 42% globally, 4% in the WHO African Region) (8).

FIG. 1. Incremental approach to prevention of HBV infection at birth and in the first years of life



HBeAg: hepatitis B e antigen; HBIG: hepatitis B immune globulin; HBsAg: hepatitis B surface antigen

1.2 The role of prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) in HBV elimination

Transmission of HBV from mother to child is more common in children born to women who have a high viral load and/or are positive for the hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg) (9). Infant hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG) prophylaxis shortly after birth and maternal peripartum prophylaxis with antivirals can provide additional protection to that provided by a timely birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine (6). In contrast, maternal HBIG administration does not provide additional protection to the infant (10). Very high maternal concentrations of HBV DNA, typically observed in HBeAg-positive women, are associated with an elevated risk of transmission (ranging from 20% in Asia to 32% in Africa), despite vaccine prophylaxis and HBIG (9, 11, 12). This compares to less than 1% transmission in Asia and Africa among HBeAg-negative women (12, 13). Evidence suggests that the use of antivirals may suppress HBV DNA levels and reduce transmission of HBV DNA levels may be considered for antiviral prophylaxis during pregnancy to prevent perinatal HBV infection (see Fig. 1) (14–17). The use of antiviral

prophylaxis in addition to infant immunization is consistent with approaches used to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV and syphilis (and Chagas disease in the Americas). This provides opportunities for integrated triple or quadruple elimination of mother-to-child transmission of all pathogens *(18)*. In addition, 6.1% of women with HIV infection have coinfection with HBV *(19)*. HIV treatment with tenofovir-based antiretroviral therapy (ART) for women living with HIV provides an opportunity to simultaneously treat those with HBV coinfection, and reduce mother-to-child transmission of HBV alongside that of HIV.

In the WHO 2015 *Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection (20),* the Guidelines Development Group had concluded that a formal recommendation could not be made on the routine use of antiviral therapy to prevent mother-to-child transmission. However, since the indications for treatment in HBV-infected pregnant women are the same as that for other adults, all pregnant women should first be assessed for eligibility for long-term treatment based on their own health needs before initiation of prophylaxis *(20).* While prophylaxis with antivirals during the third trimester of pregnancy was known to be effective in reducing mother-to-child transmission of HBV, at the time there was insufficient information available on the programmatic implications.

1.3 Objectives

The objective of these guidelines is to provide evidence-based guidance on the use of peripartum antiviral prophylaxis in HBsAg-positive pregnant women for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) of HBV.

1.4 New developments and rationale for an update of the guidelines

Since the publication of the WHO 2015 HBV treatment guidelines (20), three key developments prompted reconsideration of the use of peripartum antiviral prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV.

 Additional evidence has become available on the efficacy and safety of antiviral prophylaxis with tenofovir in HBsAg-positive pregnant women. In regards to safety, there is a low risk of exacerbation or postpartum flare after cessation of prophylaxis, and there appears to be minimal effect on infant bone mineral density with maternal use of tenofovir prophylaxis. This can contribute to the overall reassessment of the balance of benefits and harms of antiviral prophylaxis in eligible pregnant women.

- 2. WHO has received requests from countries and regions (i.e. the Americas and the Western Pacific) with high birth dose coverage for updated guidance on the use of antiviral prophylaxis in pregnant women, in order to further reduce the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HBV.
- 3. Data from epidemiological studies and modelling indicate that high coverage of three- or four-dose infant vaccination, including timely birth dose, would not be sufficient to reach the incidence elimination goals by 2030 (HBsAg prevalence of <0.1% in children five years of age) (*21*). Antiviral prophylaxis of pregnant women with high viral load may need to be added (*18*).

1.5 Target audience

The key audience for these guidelines includes Ministry of Health officials responsible for the development of national policy and guidelines related to prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV in all countries, but particularly in low- and middle-income countries. The guidelines may also be helpful for health workers who treat persons infected with HBV as well as those providing care for pregnant women and infants.

1.6 Scope of the guidelines

These guidelines update the recommendations section on PMTCT of the WHO 2015 *Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection (20),* with a focus on the use of antiviral prophylaxis in pregnancy to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV.

1.7 Related guidelines

These guidelines are intended to complement existing guidance on HBV prevention. WHO has published several guidelines focusing on various aspects of the treatment and care of people living with HBV infection.

Updated WHO position paper on hepatitis B vaccines (2017) (6). This WHO position paper reflects the recommendations as endorsed by the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts (SAGE) on immunization and updates the 2009 position paper (5). It includes the following recommendations:

- a) All infants should receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 24 hours.
- b) Delivery of hepatitis B vaccine within 24 hours of birth should be a performance indicator for all immunization programmes, and reporting and monitoring systems should be strengthened to improve the quality of data on the birth dose.

c) The birth dose should be followed by two or three doses to complete the primary series.

Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection (20) were published in 2015, but did not make a recommendation on the use of antivirals for the PMTCT of HBV.

Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services for a changing epidemic: policy brief (22), published in 2019, includes a recommendation on testing of pregnant women for HIV and syphilis from the 2019 *Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services for a changing epidemic: policy brief (22),* and for hepatitis B from the WHO *Guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing (23).* It is recommended that all pregnant women should be tested for HIV, syphilis and hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)¹ at least once and as early as possible.

1.8 Guiding principles

The following principles informed the development of these guidelines and should guide the implementation of the recommendations.

- These guidelines will contribute to realizing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) through achieving key global and national hepatitis goals; SDG indicator 3.3.4: Hepatitis B incidence per 100 000 population (24), and achieve the highest attainable standard of health for all women, children and adolescents (25).
- The guidelines are based on a public health approach, which seeks to ensure the widest possible access to high-quality services at the population level, based on simplified and standardized approaches.
- Implementation of the guidelines needs to be accompanied by efforts to
 promote and protect gender equality and the human rights of people who
 need hepatitis services. In addition, it should ensure informed consent and
 prevention of stigma and discrimination in the provision of services, as well
 as engagement of civil society in the decision-making process.
- Implementation of the recommendations in these guidelines should be informed by the local context, availability of resources, organization and capacity of the health system and anticipated cost–effectiveness.

CHAPTER 2. METHODOLOGY

2.1 WHO guidelines development process

These guidelines were produced in accordance with the recommendations for standard guidelines, as described in the *WHO Handbook for guideline development (26)*. The Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) framework was followed *(27)*. The Global Hepatitis Programme constituted a WHO Steering Committee, which included individuals with relevant expertise from different WHO departments and regions. The Steering Committee oversaw the entire guidelines development process.

The Global Hepatitis Programme constituted a Guidelines Development Group to ensure representation from various stakeholders, including patients' groups, advocacy groups, researchers and clinicians. Group members were also selected to achieve geographical representation and gender balance.

The Global Hepatitis Programme commissioned work to guide decision-making. First, a systematic review and meta-analyses estimated (i) the safety and efficacy of antiviral prophylaxis in HBV-infected pregnant women to prevent mother-tochild transmission, and (ii) the performance of HBeAg tests to determine eligibility for antiviral prophylaxis. Second, WHO commissioned modelling to estimate the impact and cost–effectiveness of antiviral prophylaxis.

The Guidelines Development Group met at WHO headquarters in Geneva, Switzerland on 9–10 September 2019.

2.2 Formulations of recommendations

The Guidelines Development Group reviewed the results of the systematic reviews and meta-analysis, modelling and complementary information. It also examined the draft decision-making tables to ensure that there was understanding and agreement on the scoring criteria (*see* Web annexes 1 and 2 for the reviews and meta-analyses, and decision-making tables, and Web annex 3 for the modelling).

The Guidelines Development Group used the GRADE methodology to rate the certainty of the evidence and determine the strength of the recommendations. The strength of the recommendations was rated as either strong (the panel was confident that the desirable effects of the intervention outweighed the undesirable effects and most or all patients would benefit from following the recommended strategy) or conditional (the panel determined that the desirable effects of the intervention probably outweighed the undesirable effects and the decision to perform the recommended strategy may vary for individual patients and situations). The certainty of evidence supporting each recommendation was graded as high, moderate, low or very low.

The Guidelines Development Group then formulated recommendations following discussion based on the certainty of the evidence, the balance of benefits and harms, consideration of values and preferences, equity and human rights, resource use and the feasibility of carrying out the intervention. The chairs and methodologist helped the Guidelines Development Group to reach consensus during the meeting. After addressing all the comments and questions from members of the Guidelines Development Group, the chairs asked group members whether they agreed with the recommendations to document consensus. All group members agreed with all the recommendations. Implementation considerations were subsequently discussed, and areas and topics requiring further research identified.

2.3 Roles

The WHO steering group formulated the questions on Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes (PICO). The Guidelines Development Group reviewed the evidence profiles and decision-making tables, composed and agreed upon the wording of the recommendations and reviewed drafts of the guidelines document.

The guidelines methodologist ensured that the GRADE framework was appropriately applied throughout the guidelines development process. This included formulation of the PICO questions, ensuring the comprehensiveness and quality of the systematic reviews, and preparation of the evidence profiles and decision-making tables. The methodologist also provided guidance to the Guidelines Development Group in formulating the wording and strength of the recommendations.

The External Review Group reviewed the draft guidelines document and provided critical feedback.

2.4 Declarations of interest and management of conflicts of interest

In accordance with WHO policy, all external contributors to the guidelines, including members of the Guidelines Development Group and External Review Group, completed a WHO declaration of interest form (*see* Web annex 6). A brief biography of each member of the Guidelines Development Group was posted on the WHO website. The biographies of the group members are available on https://www.who.int/hepatitis/news-events/gdg-pmtct-hbv/en/.

The Steering Committee reviewed and assessed the declarations submitted by each member and agreed on an approach to assess potential conflicts of interest, which they discussed with a staff member of the WHO Office of Compliance, Risk Management and Ethics. At the meeting, declarations of interest were reported according to WHO standard requirements. Individuals from organizations that had received significant funding from private (pharmaceutical) companies for research grants were considered to have a conflict of interest, and their participation in the Guidelines Development Group was classified as restricted. The Group members whose participation was restricted were Su Wang and Gonzague Jourdain. These individuals provided technical expertise in reviewing the decision-making tables but were excluded from participation in the discussion and formulation of the recommendations.

The declarations of interest forms from members of the External Review Group were reviewed in accordance with the WHO guidelines development policy. Any conflict of interest identified was considered when interpreting comments from External Review Group members during the external review process. The external reviewers could not and did not make changes in the recommendations (*see* Web annex 6).

2.5 Dissemination and monitoring of implementation

The guidelines will be made accessible on the WHO website with links to other United Nations and related websites. The Global Hepatitis Programme secretariat will disseminate the guidelines through WHO regional offices to WHO country offices and ministries of health, as well as to key international, regional and national collaborating centres, civil society organizations and national programmes. WHO will assist Member States to adapt the guidelines to their national context.

Implementation of these guidelines can be measured by the number of countries that incorporate them into their national programmes.

2.6 Evidence and information that guided the recommendations

2.6.1 Systematic review and meta-analysis

WHO commissioned a systematic review and meta-analysis on the safety and efficacy of antiviral prophylaxis in HBV-infected pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission. English and Chinese databases were searched. Duplicate studies were removed and randomized controlled trials as well as observational studies were included, resulting in 129 eligible studies. Data were extracted to provide a summary estimate of the efficacy and overview of the safety of antiviral medicines administered during pregnancy to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. Following a suggestion made at the meeting of the Guidelines Development Group, the pool of studies was re-analysed to identify the threshold at which peripartum prophylaxis should be used.

WHO commissioned another systematic review and meta-analysis on the use of HBeAg testing as an alternate measure to identify those with high viral load and so to determine the eligibility for antiviral prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. English and Chinese databases were searched. Duplicate studies were removed and randomized controlled trials as well as observational studies were included, resulting in 82 eligible studies. Data were extracted to provide a summary estimate of the performance of HBeAg tests in pregnant women with HBV infection to diagnose those with high HBV DNA levels eligible for antiviral prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission.

Complete search strategies are provided in two reports and are available in Web annexes 1 and 2. Decision-making tables are also available in Web annexes 1 and 2.

2.6.2 Modelling and cost–effectiveness analysis

A modelling analysis was commissioned to predict the expected impact on HBV infections averted and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) averted with antiviral prophylaxis during pregnancy. An existing global model was adapted to evaluate the global and regional impact of a strategy of antiviral prophylaxis for pregnant women with HBV infection (*21*) (see Web annex 3). The model was also used to estimate the cost–effectiveness of antiviral prophylaxis in HBV-infected pregnant women in addition to three doses of hepatitis B vaccine, including a timely birth dose with and without the use of HBIG in different WHO regions (see Web annex 3).

2.6.3 Feasibility, values and preferences

The Global Hepatitis Programme conducted an online stakeholder consultation to gather the perspectives of programme managers, health-care workers and civil society organizations on introducing antiviral prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. Following consultation with the Guidelines Steering Group, three online consultations were designed using an online survey tool. Respondents were engaged through members of the Guidelines Development Group and WHO regional advisors, who distributed the consultations within their networks. Data were analysed to estimate the frequency of various responses by categories, and charts were created by the online analysis tool (*see* Web annex 4).

The literature was reviewed to assess knowledge and acceptability of measures to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. MEDLINE[™] was searched using terms for HBV infection, mother-to-child transmission, antiviral therapy, patient preferences, patient values, acceptability and knowledge. We selected studies that used consultations/questionnaires to ask participants (pregnant women) to indicate their knowledge and willingness to use interventions to prevent mother-to-child transmission. Three studies were identified, and available data was summarized in tables (*see* Web annex 4).

CHAPTER 3. RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 Tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV

Existing recommendations on immunization from the WHO position paper 2017 (6)

- a) All infants should receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 24 hours;
- b) Delivery of hepatitis B vaccine within 24 hours of birth should be a performance indicator for all immunization programmes, and reporting and monitoring systems should be strengthened to improve the quality of data on the birth dose;
- c) The birth dose should be followed by 2 or 3 doses to complete the primary series.

Existing recommendation on testing of pregnant women for HIV and syphilis from the 2019 *Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services (22)*, and for hepatitis B from the WHO *Guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing (23)*

All pregnant women should be tested for HIV, syphilis and hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)¹ at least once and as early as possible in the pregnancy (HIV standing recommendation since 2007; *syphilis: strong recommendation, moderate-quality evidence; HBsAg¹: strong recommendation, low-quality evidence).*

New recommendation

WHO recommends that pregnant women testing positive for HBV infection (HBsAg positive) with an HBV DNA \ge 5.3 log₁₀ IU/mL (\ge 200,000 IU/mL²) receive tenofovir prophylaxis from the 28th week of pregnancy until at least birth, to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. This is in addition to three-dose hepatitis B vaccination in all infants, including timely birth dose *(conditional recommendation, moderate quality of evidence)*.

¹ Particularly in settings with a ≥2% seroprevalence in the general population.

² HBV DNA ≥5.3 log₁₀ IU/mL is equivalent to ≥200 000 IU/mL.

3.1.1 Summary of the evidence

WHO commissioned a systematic review and meta-analysis to evaluate the efficacy and safety of antiviral prophylaxis in HBV-infected pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission. The efficacy analysis was based on data from tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF), lamivudine and telbivudine prophylaxis. Lamivudine and telbivudine have low genetic barriers to drug resistance mutations, which may lead to the emergence of drug-resistant strains of HBV (*28*). TDF has a high barrier to drug resistance (*20*). WHO recommends nucleos(t)ide analogues with a high barrier to resistance to treat HBV infection (*20*). Thus, TDF is the medicine of choice for PMTCT. The safety and subgroup analyses only considered TDF.

Efficacy of maternal tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV

A WHO-commissioned systematic review and meta-analysis identified 129 studies that evaluated the efficacy of antiviral prophylaxis in HBV-infected pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission. All studies in the meta-analysis included HBIG in both trial arms, with the exception of six studies, in which the use of HBIG was not reported. Most studies were performed in the Western Pacific Region. There were no studies available from the African Region or from the Americas. The meta-analysis indicated a protective effect regardless of the antiviral used to prevent mother-to-child transmission (TDF 300 mg: odds ratio [OR] 0.16, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 0.10–0.26; lamivudine 100 mg: OR 0.17, 95% CI: 0.13–0.22; telbivudine 600 mg: OR 0.10, 95% CI: 0.08–0.13, *see* Web annex 1).

Safety of maternal tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV

The safety of TDF has been documented in the context of PMTCT of HIV (29). In addition, safety was examined in the specific context of peripartum prophylaxis of HBV PMTCT.

Maternal safety. Six studies were included in a meta-analysis that reported the risk of maternal HBV flare after TDF discontinuation. Across these studies, 35 of 418 mothers (8%) who received TDF during pregnancy experienced a flare after discontinuation, compared with 23 of 382 mothers (6%) who did not receive the medicine at a matched time-point. The absence of significant differences between the groups suggests that discontinuation of tenofovir prophylaxis might not increase the risk of flare (weighted pooled risk difference in the meta-analysis: 0.00 [95%CI: 0.04–0.04]) (*see* Web annex 1).

Infant safety. One randomized controlled trial examined the effect of tenofovir

prophylaxis on infant bone mineral density. There were no differences reported between 62 infants in the maternal prophylaxis group and 53 infants in the maternal placebo group in terms of lumbar spine bone mineral density measured at 1 year of age (mean: 0.324 (SD \pm 0.036) and 0.330 (SD \pm 0.036), respectively, *see* Web annex 1).

Pregnancy duration and start of tenofovir prophylaxis

Pooled OR estimates were similar for tenofovir prophylaxis starting at a median pregnancy duration of <28 weeks (OR 0.10, 95% CI 0.04–0.25), 28 weeks (OR 0.24, 95% CI 0.13–0.44), or >28 weeks (OR 0.09, 95% CI 0.02–0.32, *see* Web annex 1). An analysis of seven studies from China compared second versus third trimester start of prophylaxis with antiviral medication. This analysis indicated that starting prophylaxis during the second trimester was more efficacious than starting during the third trimester. However, this observation was based on a small number of events and most trials evaluated telbivudine or lamivudine (*see* Web annex 1).

HBV DNA threshold in pregnant women with HBV infection to predict the risk of mother-to-child transmission

Although this element was not part of the original PICO question, the studies identified in the context of the first systematic review allowed the conduct of a meta-analysis to assess the risk of perinatal infection according to the maternal HBV viral load (measured by log_{10} IU/mL) among infants who received a timely birth dose and HBIG. Studies with a small sample size (<10 subjects) were excluded. When timely birth dose and HBIG were used, there was no breakthrough infection reported when the maternal HBV DNA viral load was below 5.3 log_{10} IU/mL (*see* Fig. 2 and Web annex 2).



FIG. 2. Risk of mother-to-child transmission of HBV according to maternal HBV DNA levels during pregnancy

Resistance to tenofovir prophylaxis

Only one study performed resistance testing following the use of tenofovir prophylaxis in women. This study, with 120 participants, reported no HBV mutations related to the use of tenofovir prophylaxis. Two other studies evaluated antiviral resistance in women defaulting from prophylaxis or where infants were infected with HBV. In both cases, no resistant mutations were identified (*see* Web annex 1).

Population-level impact of interventions for PMTCT of HBV

An existing model of the global HBV epidemic was adapted to evaluate the impact of a strategy to use tenofovir prophylaxis for eligible pregnant women with HBV infection. Worldwide, scaling up vaccination incrementally to a 90% coverage of the three-dose hepatitis B vaccine, including timely birth dose, would prevent an additional 14 million new neonatal HBV infections and 38 500 DALYs over the next 10 years. Adding HBsAg testing and tenofovir prophylaxis of eligible pregnant women to the scenario of three-dose vaccination coverage including timely birth dose would prevent an additional 2.9–3.0 million neonatal infections over the same period (*see* Web annex 3).

3.1.2 Rationale for the recommendation

The Guidelines Development Group recognized that universal immunization of infants with hepatitis B vaccine, including a timely birth dose, is the most effective intervention to prevent HBV infection at birth and in the first years of life.

The Guidelines Development Group made an overall conditional recommendation to use tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission. The Group acknowledged that most clinical trials that evaluated the efficacy of tenofovir prophylaxis had also included the use of HBIG in both arms. However, it was concluded that the efficacy of antiviral prophylaxis could reasonably be extrapolated to settings in which HBIG is not available. The Group noted that trials are under way to provide an evidence base for the efficacy of tenofovir to prevent mother-to-child transmission among women whose infants did not receive HBIG.

The Guidelines Development Group determined a viral load threshold of HBV DNA $\geq 5.3 \log_{10} IU/mL$ ($\geq 200,000 IU/mL$) at which pregnant women are eligible to receive tenofovir prophylaxis. Meta-analysis indicated that a pregnant woman with a viral load $\geq 5.3 \log_{10} IU/mL$ may transmit HBV to her infant even when the infant receives the timely birth dose vaccine, HBIG and completes the hepatitis B vaccine series (*see* Fig. 1).

Balance of benefits and harms

Benefits

Maternal tenofovir prophylaxis may prevent HBV infection in infants born to HBVinfected women. This may protect these children from the risk of developing serious disease complications later in life. On a population level, prevention of transmission of HBV may reduce the reservoir for further transmission.

Harms

The main potential harm is the risk of liver flare after discontinuation of prophylaxis. Although the risk of flare is low, reactivation has been reported in patients treated for hepatitis B after antiviral prophylaxis had been withdrawn *(30)*. There is also the risk that a recommendation could lead to the false perception that tenofovir prophylaxis in HBV-infected pregnant women could replace the use of timely birth dose vaccination.

Values and preferences and acceptability

Three published studies (*31–33*) and two unpublished studies were identified that assessed the preferences of pregnant women related to interventions to prevent mother-to-child transmission. These studies indicated that most women were willing to have their infant given a timely birth dose, varying from 66% (251/380) of women in Viet Nam, to 93% (195/209) in Ghana (*31, 32*). In Ghana, 93% of the surveyed women were willing to take antiviral prophylaxis (*31*). In a study in Burkina Faso, 100% of eligible women agreed to take antiviral prophylaxis (A. Guingane, unpublished data). In a programme to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV in China (the SHIELD project), 97% of women eligible for prophylaxis were willing to receive it (Dr Hou, unpublished data). In contrast, one study conducted in Guangdong China found that only 17% (125/737) of women surveyed were willing to take antiviral prophylaxis (*33*).

Of 153 health-care workers, 56 programme managers and 81 civil society representatives who responded to an online consultation carried out by WHO prior to the Guidelines Development Group meeting, 50–60% reported that a programme to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV is in place in their country or place of work. Advantages of tenofovir prophylaxis mentioned by respondents included prevention of HBV infection in the infant, and opportunity to both provide care and treatment of the mother, and to build on and promote integrated HBV, HIV and syphilis services. While there is support for the use of prophylaxis in pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission, around one third of respondents

expressed concerns about costs and the risk tenofovir prophylaxis poses to the mother's and infant's health. While prophylaxis is cost effective, the willingness to pay may vary. Safety concerns underscore the need for education of health-care workers and pregnant women to increase knowledge and reduce misperceptions when the payer is the mother because of health systems factors that lead to out of pocket expenses (*see* Web annex 4).

Feasibility

Experience from the elimination of mother-to-child transmission (EMTCT) of HIV and syphilis suggests that it is feasible to provide testing for pregnant women followed by prophylaxis for eligible women to prevent infection. By the end of 2018, around 79% of pregnant women knew their HIV status, and of those identified as infected, 82% received treatment (*34*). Worldwide, in 2016, an estimated 66% of pregnant women were tested for syphilis, and, among those identified as infected, 78% of women were treated (*35*).

An online consultation among health-care workers, programme managers and civil society representatives indicated that 77% of respondents felt that it was feasible to offer HBV testing and provide eligible pregnant women with tenofovir prophylaxis. Challenges reported by stakeholders included costs and availability of HBV DNA tests and TDF, training of health-care workers, education of women living with HBV infection, and lack of capacity and infrastructure to test and treat pregnant women (*see* Web annex 4).

Equity and human rights

HBV-infected pregnant women from groups that are marginalized or stigmatized (e.g. people who inject drugs, sex workers) or minority populations (migrants, indigenous populations), in general have a higher prevalence of HBV infection than the general population and have poor access to health care. Integrated antenatal services for HBV, HIV and syphilis provide an opportunity to reach out to marginalized groups and minority populations. However, additional measures are required to ensure that these populations have access to health services without stigma and discrimination to reduce health inequities.

Use of tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission in addition to timely birth dose could reduce health inequities in low-income settings where HBIG is not available or affordable. However, interventions based on testing of pregnant women followed by tenofovir prophylaxis cost more than hepatitis B vaccination of infants alone. Therefore, tenofovir prophylaxis in addition to vaccination may not be feasible in low-income countries in the short term.

The Guidelines Development Group raised concerns that routine testing of pregnant women may lead to challenges in maintaining confidentiality as well as stigma and discrimination against those testing positive. This highlights the importance of health-care worker training and rights-based frameworks that facilitate access to testing and treatment.

The use of tenofovir prophylaxis for eligible pregnant women might also lead to initiation of prophylaxis for prevention of infection of the infant taking precedence over consideration of health issues of the mother. However, few women of childbearing age are likely to have clinical or laboratory signs of liver disease and so be eligible for long-term treatment after pregnancy for their own health. Recommendations in the 2015 HBV guidelines include the specific criteria for who to treat with long-term antiviral therapy *(20)*. Programmes that would implement these guidelines on PMTCT of HBV need to ensure that women infected with HBV are assessed for eligibility for treatment for their own health and that those found eligible are placed on treatment, in accordance with the 2015 HBV treatment guidelines *(20)*.

Resource considerations

Cost–effectiveness of scaling up timely birth dose. The global cost of adding 90% timely birth dose coverage to a scenario of 90% coverage of three-dose hepatitis B vaccination is estimated at US\$ 1.6 billion for 2020–2030. The incremental cost–effectiveness ratios (ICERs) for this strategy vary by WHO region, ranging from US\$ 133 to US\$ 952 per DALY averted and eight world regions have ICERs of <US\$ 300 per DALY averted (*see* Web annex 3).

Cost-effectiveness of antenatal testing and prophylaxis for eligible pregnant women.

The global cost of adding antenatal testing of pregnant women for HBsAg and providing tenofovir prophylaxis for those at increased risk of mother-to-child transmission (over scaled up timely birth dose) would be an extra US\$ 2.2–2.7 billion over 10 years. The ICERs of this testing and prophylaxis strategy guided by HBV DNA, in addition to timely birth dose, varies between US\$ 890 and US\$ 7355 per DALY averted, depending on the world region. The regions with the lowest ICERs for antiviral scale up are East Asia, West Africa, Central Europe, Central Africa and East Africa with ICERs of US\$ 890, US\$ 1066, US\$ 1069, US\$ 1106 and US\$ 1250 per DALY averted, respectively (*see* Web annex 3).

In summary, compared to the status quo, scaling up timely birth dose is the most cost-effective option that delivers the most health benefit for the lowest cost. However, in countries that have already scaled up the timely birth dose, adding antenatal testing of pregnant women and tenofovir prophylaxis is an additional opportunity to prevent perinatal infections and may be cost effective in some regions, depending on diagnostic costs and how such a strategy is implemented.

Costs of tenofovir and diagnostics in different WHO regions

TDF is no longer patent protected and is available for US\$ 27 or less per year of treatment. The current market price for HBV DNA testing varies from US\$ 15–50 in the Region of the Americas to US\$ 30–100 in the Western Pacific Region and the African Region. The best current market price for laboratory-based HBeAg testing is US\$ 7.5. The price of rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) to detect HBeAg ranges between US\$ 0.5 and US\$ 1.3.

3.1.3 Implementation considerations

- Countries that have not yet reached the 2020 goal of 1% HBsAg prevalence among children aged 5 years through vaccination would need to focus their efforts on increasing their vaccination coverage, including timely birth dose.
- Temporary immunity may be obtained by administering HBIG for postexposure prophylaxis. HBIG prophylaxis in conjunction with hepatitis B vaccination may be of additional benefit for newborn infants whose mothers are HBeAg-positive (6).
- The clinical trials that evaluated the efficacy and safety of tenofovir prophylaxis also included hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG) as an additional preventive strategy in both trial arms. In a number of settings (mostly in high income countries) where it is available, HBIG is used in addition to hepatitis B vaccination, including birth dose, to reduce the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HBV. However, HBIG is a blood product that has to be screened for infectious diseases. The costs are high, a cold chain is required and HBIG can be in short supply. In low and middle income countries, it may only be available when purchased by individuals.
- As many countries are working towards dual elimination of perinatal HIV and syphilis infection, there are opportunities for efficiency gains and integration to also include elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HBV.
- Programmes to test and treat eligible pregnant women need to be implemented in the context of universal health coverage, aiming for covering the highest proportion of women while reducing financial hardship.
- Testing of pregnant women needs to take place under circumstances that prevent stigma and discrimination. Post-test counselling and education should be conducted on measures to reduce the risk of transmitting HBV to the infant, encouragement for partner testing and ensuring linkage to care of HBsAg-positive women to assess for eligibility for treatment for the mothers own health (23).

- Clinical assessment should include an evaluation of whether mothers would be eligible for treatment for their own health. However, in accordance with criteria in the 2015 WHO treatment guidelines, only a small proportion of women of childbearing age would be eligible for long-term treatment (20).
- All eligible pregnant and breastfeeding women living with HBV infection can safely use tenofovir (*36*).
- The diagnostic tests used need to meet quality, safety and performance standards (with regard to both analytical, diagnostic or clinical sensitivity and specificity).³
- In women with HIV/HBV infection, treatment with ART that contains TDF should be continued after pregnancy.
- Tenofovir has no drug–drug interactions with HIV medications. Renal toxicity needs to be monitored when used with sofosbuvir/ledipasvir or sofosbuvir/ velpatasvir. Other potential drug–drug interactions can be checked on the internet site of the University of Liverpool (https://www.hep-druginteractions.org).

3.1.4 Research gaps

- Effectiveness of testing and prophylaxis with antivirals of pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission in different regions, especially the African Region. New data on effectiveness could have an impact on cost– effectiveness.
- Efficacy of TDF to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV among women whose infants did not receive HBIG. Given the limited access to HBIG and the need to screen for infectious diseases, the use of HBIG-free regimens could be a cheaper and safer option when using HBIG. A range of trials are now under way to provide an evidence base for this consideration and more may be needed.
- Efficacy of TDF to prevent mother-to-child transmission among women whose infants did not receive a timely birth dose.
- Evaluation of different service delivery models for provision of integrated HIV, syphilis and hepatitis B testing, care, prophylaxis and treatment services.
- Evaluation of continuing treatment after delivery as (i) HBV treatment guidelines may evolve towards broadening treatment eligibility criteria, and (ii) subsequent pregnancies in HBV-infected women will also be associated with the risk of mother-to-child transmission.

³ Assays should meet minimum acceptance criteria of either WHO prequalification of in vitro diagnostics (IVDs) or a stringent regulatory review for IVDs. All IVDs should be used in accordance with manufacturers' instructions for use and, where possible, at testing sites enrolled in a national or international external quality assessment scheme.

- Evaluation of different strategies to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV in the context of the evolving research agenda towards a cure for HBV infection.
- Evaluation of tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) and entecavir for PMTCT.
- Additional strategies for PMTCT of HBV in HCV- or HDV-coinfected women.
- Evaluation of tenofovir prophylaxis in women in multiple subsequent pregnancies to prevent mother-to-child transmission.

3.2 In settings in which antenatal HBV DNA testing is not available, use of HBeAg testing to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-tochild transmission of HBV

New recommendation

WHO recommends that in settings in which antenatal HBV DNA testing is not available, HBeAg testing can be used as an alternative to HBV DNA testing to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis, to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV⁴ (conditional recommendation, moderate quality of evidence).

3.2.1 Summary of the evidence

Performance of HBeAg tests to diagnose high HBV DNA levels in pregnant women with HBV infection

WHO commissioned a systematic review and meta-analysis to assess the performance (sensitivity and specificity) of HBeAg tests in pregnant women with HBV infection in identifying women with high HBV DNA levels (\geq 5.3–6.2 log₁₀ IU/mL). There were 27 studies included from the Western Pacific Region, seven from the African Region, five from the European Region, one from the South-East Asia Region and one from the Region of the Americas. The overall sensitivity and specificity of HBeAg for diagnosis of HBV viraemia based on a DNA threshold \geq 5.3–6.2 log₁₀ IU/mL was 88.2% (95% CI: 83.9–91.5) and 92.6% (95% CI: 90–94.5), respectively (*see* Web annex 2).⁵

⁴ The performance of HBeAg testing suggests that it is an acceptable alternative to diagnosing HBV DNA ≥5.3 log₁₀ IU/mL.

⁵ HBV DNA ≥5.3 log₁₀ IU/mL is equivalent to ≥200 000 IU/mL
In two studies that evaluated HBeAg RDTs, there was a pooled sensitivity of 70.1% (95% CI: 58.2–79.9) and a pooled specificity of 95.7% (95% CI: 93.3–97.3) for diagnosis of HBV viraemia based on a DNA threshold \geq 5.3–6.2 log₁₀ IU/mL (*see* Web annex 2).

Performance of HBeAg tests in pregnant women with HBV infection to predict the risk of mother-to-child transmission

The above-described systematic review and meta-analysis also assessed the performance (sensitivity and specificity) of HBeAg positivity to predict the risk of mother-to-child transmission. The analysis was stratified by different preventive interventions. In nine eligible studies that used HBeAg to predict the risk of mother-to-child transmission, the overall sensitivity and specificity was 99.1% (95% CI: 61.8–100) and 55.7% (95% CI: 34.0–75.5), respectively. When restricted to children who received birth dose vaccine plus HBIG, the sensitivity was 98.8% (95% CI: 52.0–100) and specificity was 49.2% (95% CI: 25.1–73.7, *see* Web annex 2).

Performance of different HBV DNA thresholds in pregnant women with HBV infection to predict the risk of mother-to-child transmission

The above-described systematic review and meta-analysis estimated the performance (sensitivity and specificity) of different HBV DNA thresholds in pregnant women with HBV infection to predict the risk of mother-to-child transmission. HBV DNA viral load threshold of $\geq 5 \log_{10}$ IU/mL was associated with a sensitivity of 97.7% (95% CI: 42.9–100) and a specificity of 68.4% (95% CI: 48.6–83.2) for predicting mother-to-child transmission.

In conclusion, compared to HBV DNA, HBeAg has high sensitivity but lower specificity for predicting the risk of mother-to-child transmission.

3.2.2 Rationale for the recommendation

The Guidelines Development Group made an overall conditional recommendation to use HBeAg testing to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis in settings where HBV DNA is not available. The Group recognized that HBV DNA quantification is the reference method to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis in pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission. However, based on the available evidence, it was decided that the performance of HBeAg is acceptable, and therefore can be used as an alternative test in settings where access to HBV DNA quantification is limited.

Balance of benefits and harms

Benefits

The use of HBeAg testing may increase access to testing and tenofovir prophylaxis for HBV-infected pregnant women, thereby reducing the incidence of mother-to-child transmission in low-income settings.

Harms

Potential harms include the overuse (use of prophylaxis in women at low risk of mother-to-child transmission of HBV) or underuse (no prophylaxis in women at high risk of mother-to-child transmission of HBV) of tenofovir prophylaxis depending on the setting. The recommendation may lead to the perception that HBeAg is the preferred or optimal method for the assessment of eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis, which may reduce efforts to increase access to HBV DNA testing. The recommendation may also lead to the misconception that HBeAg to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis in pregnant women could be used to determine eligibility for treatment among all persons with HBV infection. However, the Guidelines Development Group determined that the benefits are likely to outweigh any potential harms.

Values and preferences and acceptability

Some pregnant women value highly the use of antivirals for HBV PMTCT over risks related to unnecessary exposure to TDF and potential adverse events (*31*) (*see* section 3.1.2 Values and preferences).

One hundred fifty-three health-care workers, 56 programme managers and 81 civil society representatives expressed their views in an online consultation carried out by WHO. Respondents viewed testing of pregnant women to guide use of tenofovir prophylaxis with HBeAg as an acceptable intervention. Identified advantages included reduction in costs, increased access to testing for pregnant women and increased equity for disadvantaged groups (*see* Web annex 4).

Feasibility

Respondents to the online consultation among health-care workers, programme managers and civil society representatives indicated that it was feasible to use HBeAg tests to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis. Challenges mentioned included the costs and availability of HBeAg tests, training of health-care workers, and education of women living with HBV infection.

Equity and human rights

HBV DNA quantification is the reference test to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis in HBsAg-positive pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV. However, some settings have poor access to HBV DNA quantification, especially remote rural areas where many antenatal clinic visits take place. Emphasizing the need to increase access to cheaper HBV DNA tests and endorsement of HBeAg as an alternative marker for HBV DNA quantification could result in increased availability of affordable testing and subsequent access to tenofovir prophylaxis. This would reduce inequities in access for pregnant women in settings with poor access to testing and prophylaxis.

Resource considerations

The financial implications of the choice between HBV DNA and HBeAg testing depends on the relative prices of these tests and would vary across countries, but the cost–effectiveness ratios of an HBV viral load-guided strategy or an HBeAg-guided strategy are largely similar (*see* Table 1).

3.2.3 Implementation considerations

- HBV DNA quantification is the reference method to determine eligibility for tenofovir prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV in pregnant women. Access to HBV DNA quantification (in terms of costs, availability of tests, availability of testing platforms and quality of tests) remains limited in some settings. Efforts need to continue to increase access to HBV DNA testing and reduce prices.
- The tests being used need to meet quality, safety and performance standards (with regard to both analytical and clinical sensitivity and specificity).³

3.2.4 Research gaps

- Evaluation of measures to ensure that vulnerable populations have access to health services without stigma and discrimination.
- Evaluation of service delivery models to offer testing and tenofovir prophylaxis, including for vulnerable populations.
- Development of RDTs for HBeAg with higher diagnostic accuracy.
- Evaluation of the performance of HBeAg tests in the presence of coinfection with HCV and HDV and in different genotypes.
- Evaluation of the performance of HBeAg tests available in different WHO regions.

³ Assays should meet minimum acceptance criteria of either WHO prequalification of in vitro diagnostics (IVDs) or a stringent regulatory review for IVDs. All IVDs should be used in accordance with manufacturers' instructions for use and, where possible, at testing sites enrolled in a national or international external quality assessment scheme.

CHAPTER 4. IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 General considerations and principles

Several parameters are key to planning for an approach to prevent mother-tochild transmission of HBV in different countries and settings. These include the epidemiology of HBV infection (prevalence of chronic HBV infection and of high HBV DNA levels or HBeAg positivity in persons with HBV infection), service coverage of immunization, including the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine, availability of commodities for diagnosis and treatment, experience with testing and peripartum prophylaxis with antivirals.

4.1.1 Prevalence of HBV infection

WHO recommends universal immunization of infants against hepatitis B starting with a timely birth dose in all settings *(6)*, regardless of HBV endemicity. Where the prevalence of HBV infection is intermediate (2–8%) or high (>8%), universal immunization of infants has had a large impact and is cost effective *(37)*. The results of the impact model and cost–effectiveness analysis that was conducted for these guidelines suggest that in settings with high endemicity, high coverage with a timely birth dose followed by two or three additional doses of vaccine would lead to the greatest impact at the lowest cost (*see* Web annex 3). Some countries with low endemicity have, however, chosen selective strategies to prevent mother-to-child transmission that are based on testing pregnant women to identify those infected. These countries have already been implementing interventions similar to the peripartum prophylaxis recommended in these guidelines, even though they did not implement universal use of hepatitis B immunization in accordance with WHO recommendations.

4.1.2 Prevalence of HBeAg positivity in HBV-infected women of childbearing age

Among women of childbearing age with chronic HBV infection, the prevalence of HBeAg positivity that correlates with high HBV DNA viraemia varies across regions (*38*). As a result, the risk of perinatal transmission also varies (*11, 12*). Historically, the African and the Western Pacific regions have the highest prevalence of HBV infection (*1*) but differ in the prevalence of HBeAg positivity. The prevalence of HBeAg positivity in HBV-infected women of childbearing age is generally higher in the Western Pacific Region compared to other regions,

while the African Region has a lower prevalence *(38, 39)*. The introduction of hepatitis B vaccine as part of the Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) has led to improved prevention of horizontal transmission in the past decades. As a result, the proportion of chronic HBV infections attributable to horizontal transmission has decreased. Perinatal infection now accounts for a higher proportion of the remaining transmission, both in the Western Pacific and African regions.

4.1.3 Infant immunization coverage

In 2018, the global coverage of the third dose of hepatitis B vaccine was high (84%) (8). However, there were outliers and some countries still struggle to reach high coverage. Where the third dose coverage remains low, increasing coverage is key to eliminating horizontal transmission. Of the six WHO regional offices, three (Western Pacific, Europe and South-East Asia) have mechanisms in place to verify achievements of the better to use hepatitis B control goal through immunization (40, 41). The Eastern Mediterranean Region is still establishing their process. The African Region, however, is first working on the establishment of birth dose policies. In the Region of the Americas, pilot testing of verification of the 0.1% elimination goal has started.

4.1.4 Timely birth dose coverage

In 2018, the coverage of the timely birth dose remained heterogeneous (from 4% in the African Region to 83% in the Western Pacific Region). Where coverage of the timely birth dose remains low, increasing coverage is a priority for two reasons. First, a timely birth dose followed by two or three additional doses is the intervention that leads to the greatest impact at the lowest cost (*see* Web annex 3). Second, studies demonstrating the efficacy of antiviral prophylaxis have been conducted only in the setting of routine use of infant vaccination (including a timely birth dose) (*see* Web annex 1). At present, the efficacy of peripartum antiviral prophylaxis in the absence of a timely birth dose is unknown. However, future research in the field could address this knowledge gap.

4.1.5 Availability of commodities

The availability of medicines and diagnostics needed for peripartum antiviral prophylaxis varies. TDF is no longer protected by any patent, and therefore should be available for procurement in any country of the world for US\$ 2.5/ month or less (42). In practice, in some countries, the absence of national programmes may lead to fragmented procurement, high in-country mark-ups and higher overall prices. HBV DNA testing can be procured for as little as US\$ 15/test. The best current market price for laboratory-based HBeAg testing

is US\$ 7.5 and for RDTs to detect HBeAg, the price ranges between US\$ 0.5 and US\$ 1.3. However, the in vitro diagnostic infrastructure differs from country to country. Finally, HBIG availability and prices vary. In sub-Saharan Africa, availability is particularly limited. It is mostly available in the private sector at high prices.

4.1.6 Experience with peripartum prophylaxis

Several countries that used to be highly endemic for HBV infection have achieved major progress in hepatitis B control through high coverage of infant hepatitis B vaccination, including timely birth dose (43). Because breakthrough infections in children born to women with high HBV DNA and who received a timely birth dose followed by two or three additional doses now constitute a source of residual perinatal infections (43, 44), programmes for peripartum prophylaxis have been initiated in most regions (15, 45). In some regions, however, particularly the African Region, experience with peripartum prophylaxis is still limited.

4.2 Regional considerations

The various WHO regions are faced with different scenarios with respect to these parameters. As a result, the implementation of these guidelines may vary by region. The situation assessment provided below is based on interactions of the WHO regional offices with ministries of health of the Member States.

4.2.1 African Region

The African Region is characterized by high endemicity of HBV infection, but lower prevalence of HBeAg positivity among women of childbearing age than in the South-East Asia Region, suboptimal routine infant vaccination coverage. low hepatitis B birth dose vaccine coverage, and limited availability of in vitro diagnostic infrastructure and commodities (including HBIG). In this context, initial efforts to implement hepatitis B vaccine birth dose policies would lead to the greatest impact at the lowest cost (see Web annex 3). Initially, efforts to introduce a timely birth dose may start in women delivering in healthcare facilities (in 2019, 59.5% of pregnant women delivered in a health-care facility) (46). Additional efforts will be needed to reach women who deliver in the community. From 2021, the support of Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance, should facilitate introduction of a birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine in the EPI schedule (47). The cost of a mono-dose of hepatitis B vaccine is low (US cents 13), under the threshold of national co-payment for Gavi-sponsored vaccines (47). Therefore, financial support from Gavi under the current policy will be primarily directed at operations rather than at vaccine procurement. While efforts to

prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV in the African Region should focus on timely birth dose, implementation of pilot projects for peripartum prophylaxis would also allow experience to be gained in the field. Research projects examining the efficacy of peripartum prophylaxis in the absence of HBIG and/or timely birth dose could also open new programmatic options in the future.

4.2.2 Region of the Americas

The Region of the Americas is characterized by low endemicity of HBV infection, with pockets of high endemicity, particularly among indigenous populations. The estimated regional prevalence of HBsAg in children at 5 years of age is <0.1%. The prevalence of HBeAg among women of childbearing age varies. By 2018, 26 countries and territories had introduced universal hepatitis B birth dose vaccine into their national immunization schedules with an estimated regional coverage of 72%. In 2019, four additional countries introduced a universal birth dose, representing nearly 92% of the total birth cohort in the Region. In 2016, the Pan American Health Organization endorsed "EMTCT Plus", a Framework for elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV, Syphilis, Hepatitis B, and Chagas (48). In recent years, the national context allowed initial experiences of peripartum prophylaxis in a few countries. In 2017, 24 countries were routinely testing pregnant women for HBsAg, while 22 countries provide HBIG for exposed newborns. Implementation of the present guidelines for peripartum prophylaxis would facilitate the prevention of more perinatal HBV infections.

4.2.3 Eastern Mediterranean Region

The Eastern Mediterranean Region is characterized by intermediate endemicity of HBV infection and low prevalence of HBeAg among HBV-infected women of childbearing age. Overall, third dose coverage with the hepatitis B vaccine is high (82%) and the birth dose coverage is low (33%). Experience with peripartum prophylaxis is limited. In this context, efforts to increase timely birth dose coverage should be prioritized.

4.2.4 European Region

The European Region is characterized by low-to-intermediate endemicity of HBV infection in most of its Member States, and low prevalence of HBeAg among HBV-infected women of childbearing age. However, several countries in the south Caucasus and central Asia, and a few countries in eastern and central Europe had high endemicity profiles before universal immunization was introduced. In addition, migrants born in high-endemicity countries have a higher prevalence of HBV infection. Overall, vaccination coverage with the

third dose of hepatitis B vaccine is high (84%) but in 2019, four Member States had not implemented universal immunization of infants against hepatitis B nationally because of their low endemicity (1). Some Member States of the WHO European Region (mostly high-income countries with low baseline prevalence of HBV infection) do not implement universal hepatitis B vaccination but rely on targeted prevention of perinatal transmission through testing all pregnant women and providing the birth dose to children born to HBsAg-positive mothers.

Implementation of the present guidelines for peripartum prophylaxis would further facilitate the prevention of perinatal HBV infections, particularly in countries that are not using universal hepatitis B immunization.

4.2.5 South-East Asia Region

The South-East Asia Region is heterogeneous with respect to the epidemiology of HBV infection. Some countries have intermediate or low endemicity for HBV infection (e.g. Sri Lanka). Some countries have high endemicity for HBV infection with a high prevalence of HBeAg positivity among HBV-infected women of childbearing age (e.g. Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Indonesia, Thailand). Also, in intermediate-endemicity settings, there are indigenous people with a higher prevalence of HBV infection (49). The 2018 coverage of the third dose of hepatitis B vaccine was high (89%) and the coverage of the birth dose was intermediate (48%). Eight out of 11 Member States provide a universal birth dose. However, two of the four Member States that have already reached the 1% goal of HBsAg prevalence in children 5 years of age did not have a timely birth dose in their immunization schedule (50). There is experience of peripartum prophylaxis where HBV is highly endemic and perinatal transmission common, as in Thailand (15). Implementation of the present guidelines for peripartum prophylaxis would facilitate the prevention of perinatal HBV infections, especially in Member States that may decide against adoption of birth dose vaccine in view of the low prevalence of HBsAg that has already been achieved with existing three doses of hepatitis B vaccine.

4.2.6 Western Pacific Region

In the Western Pacific Region, an estimated 115 million people were living with HBV infection in 2015 and the regional prevalence of chronic HBV infection was estimated at 6.2% (1). When hepatitis B vaccination was introduced in the 1990s, most Member States had a high endemicity of HBV infection and a high prevalence of HBeAg positivity (51). The Region was the first to decide on a target for the control of HBV infection through immunization, aiming at

2% prevalence of HBsAg in children aged 5 years by 2012 (52). In 2018, the coverage of the birth dose and third dose of hepatitis B vaccine was high overall (83% and 90%, respectively), though a number of Member States still had challenges in achieving high coverage (53). In 2018, nine out of 25 reporting Member States and areas had achieved 95% coverage for the timely birth dose while 13 of 27 Member States and areas had achieved 95% coverage of the third dose of vaccination. As a whole, the Region achieved the 2017 target of 1% prevalence of HBsAg in children 5 years of age. However, as a result of large populations and with some Member States having a very high HBV prevalence in the general population, breakthrough infections still account for a large number of perinatal infections. In 2017, the Regional Committee for the Western Pacific Region endorsed the Regional Framework for the Triple Elimination of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV, Hepatitis B and Syphilis in Asia and the Pacific, 2018–2030 (54). The Framework proposes a coordinated approach towards achieving triple elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV, HBV and syphilis through access to quality reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health services. A number of Member States in the Western Pacific Region have spearheaded efforts to further reduce mother-to-child transmission, including through the use of antiviral prophylaxis and follow up of exposed infants (55, 56). In China, universal antenatal testing for HIV, hepatitis B and syphilis have been offered since 2011, and modelling studies in 2015 to estimate the impact of interventions on the HBV epidemic catalysed discussions on the possibilities of enhancing tightening the HBV prevention strategy toward elimination. In 2017, comprehensive interventions for EMTCT of HBV were established in three provinces as part of pilot projects on triple elimination. In 2018, Malaysia initiated pilot projects for EMTCT of HBV in four states. In 2019, Mongolia updated its national guidelines for EMTCT to include HBV and HCV. Cambodia and Viet Nam have developed national action plans for triple elimination and Philippines and Papua New Guinea are in the process of developing national frameworks. The present guidelines will support countries in introducing and scaling up antiviral prophylaxis to further reduce mother-to-child transmission of HBV.

TABLE. 1. Key elements of the context to guide policies for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV in the six WHO regions

	Anncan kegion	Region of the Americas	Eastern Mediterranean Region	European Region	South-East Asia Region	Western Pacific Region
2015 HBsAg prevalence in 3% (2–4.7%) the population (%) ^a	1%)	0.2% (0.1–0.5%)	1.6% (1.2–2.1%)	0.4% (0.2–0.8%)	0.7% (0.5–1.6%)	0.9% (0.6–1.3%)
2017 HBsAg prevalence in 2.34% under-5 children (%) ^b		0.07%	%69.0	0.21%	0.26%	0.38%
HBeAg positivity (%) in 26% (21.2–30.6%) women of childbearing age ^c		28.3% (24.1–33.9%)	27.3% (21.6–33.9%)	27.3% (22.2–31.9%)	29.3% (21.7–36.1%)	29.3% (24.1–34.9%)
3rd dose hepatitis B vaccine 76% (25–99%) coverage (range in countries) ^d	(%66	81% (60–99%)	82% (42–99%)	84% (52–99%)	(78–99%) (89%)	90% (44–99%)
Coverage of timely birth dose 4% (range in countries) ^d		72% (55–95%)	33% (18–89%)	(%66-09) %68	48% (7–99%)	83% (25–100%)
ANC coverage at least once 52.5% (%) their own health ^e		89%	70%	100%	49%	80%
Births assisted by skilled 59.5% birth attenådant (%) ¹		96.5%	89%	%66	77%	96%
a Global hepatitis report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 b London School of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene; 2017	rganization; 20 ; 2017	017				

ן מ 2 D Ξ כ מ

d WHO/UNICEF joint reporting process; 2019

e UNICEF antenatal care; EPI: Expanded Programme on Immunization; https://data.unicef.org/topic/maternal-health/antenatal-care/#status

In the European Region, almost half of the countries do not implement universal birth dose vaccination but instead rely on targeted prevention of perimatal transmission through testing of all pregnant women and providing birth dose to children born to HBsAg-positive mothers.

ANC: antenatal care; HBIG: hepatitis B immune globulin; HBeAg; hepatitis B e antigen; HBsAg; hepatitis B surface antigen; HBV: hepatitis B virus; NAT: nucleic acid test; PWID: people who inject drugs; RDT: rapid diagnostic test

	African Region	Region of the Americas	Eastern Mediterranean Region	European Region	South-East Asia Region	Western Pacific Region
Country experience with peripartum prophylaxis	Very limited	6 countries	Limited	High-income countries	3 countries	9 countries
HBsAg prevalence in minority populations (indigenous, PWID, migrants)	NA (high endemicity)	Indigenous: 2–7% to >8%	1	Migrants born in high-endemicity countries	PWID: 0.8-14%	Selected key populations
Price of HBIG	US\$ 150-200	US\$ 18	No data	No data	US\$ 70-110	US\$ 10-50
Availability of HBIG	Limited in private market. Provided in tertiary care in South Africa and Namibia	Used in 22/28 countries	No data	28/43 countries reporting to WHO/ Europe survey	Available in the private sector in a few Member States	Varies across countries
Price of HBV DNA test	US\$ 30-100	US\$ 14-50	No data	US\$ 20-70	US\$ 30-50	US\$ 30-100
Availability of diagnostics	RDTs available but of variable quality, some limited access to GeneXpert HBV DNA	No data on HBeAg, 19 out of 29 have access to HBV DNA, some through private sector			Available in both public and private sectors	HBV DNA available in many countries but often through centralized laboratories
EPI verification process in place	Not yet	Pilot testing	In progress	Yes	Yes	Yes

CHAPTER 5. MONITORING AND EVALUATION

5.1 Core indicators from the Global Health Sector Strategy on viral hepatitis

Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV is a core intervention of the GHSS on viral hepatitis (*3*). This core intervention consists of the timely birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine and other additional interventions, including peripartum prophylaxis. The monitoring and evaluation framework of the GHSS (*3*) includes a number of indicators that are relevant to this core intervention. Service coverage indicators include:

- third dose coverage of hepatitis B vaccine (Indicator C.3.b); and
- coverage of interventions to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV (Indicator C.3.a).

The impact indicator is the cumulative incidence of chronic HBV infection in children 5 years of age (Indicator C.9.a), which is also an indicator of the Sustainable Development Goals (24). As chronic infection with HBV is mostly asymptomatic, the prevalence of HBsAg among children 5 years of age is a surrogate marker for the cumulative incidence of chronic HBV infection (4). The reference measurement method is a biomarker survey (4). However, the statistical power of biomarker surveys decreases as the prevalence decreases.

5.2 Additional indicators that can guide programme implementation

In addition to the core indicators (C.3.a, C.3.b and C.9.a), a number of indicators can facilitate programme implementation (*see* Table 2). Most of these indicators have equivalents in the monitoring and evaluation frameworks of the EMTCT of HIV and syphilis (*57*). This would provide opportunities for synergies in data systems to improve monitoring and evaluation efforts.

Context indicators

Two indicators monitored through the Maternal and Child Health programme can provide important contextual information on the feasibility of peripartum prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV.

- 1. The coverage of antenatal care can provide information on the capacity of the health system to reach pregnant women to initiate testing for HBV infection.
- 2. The proportion of deliveries attended by skilled birth attendants can provide information on the capacity of the health system to reach infants with interventions at birth, including birth dose and HBIG.

Process/output indicators

A number of indicators can capture the sequence between initial testing, referral to care and initiation of peripartum prophylaxis. The source of information for these indicators are programme records, including antenatal care registers, in vitro diagnostics registers, maternity registers and immunization records.

1. Indicators for the testing of mothers. These include the proportion of mothers tested for HBsAg, the proportion of mothers testing positive for HBsAg and the proportion of HBsAg-positive mothers tested for HBV DNA or HBeAg.

2. Indicators for the management of mothers. These include the proportion of HBsAg-positive mothers eligible for prophylaxis and the proportion of eligible women who receive antivirals.

3. Indicators for the management of infants. These include the proportion of exposed infants receiving a timely birth dose, the proportion of exposed infants receiving HBIG, the proportion of all infants receiving a timely birth dose and the proportion of exposed infants tested for infection at 7–12 months of age.

Outcome indicator

The rate of mother-to-child transmission is the incidence of HBV infection in infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers. It is calculated by dividing the number of HBsAg-positive infants at post vaccination serological testing by the number of infants tested at 7–12 months of age (1–2 months after completion of the last dose of vaccine according to the WHO position paper on immunization). The data source is the follow up of infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers (*55*).

Impact indicator

The impact indicator is the cumulative incidence of chronic HBV infection among children 5 years of age (Indicator C.9.a). The prevalence of HBsAg among children 5 years of age is measured in biomarker surveys (4).

5.3 Measuring progress towards elimination

Service coverage indicators

Mathematical models that were developed to inform the GHSS on viral hepatitis suggested that to reach a 0.1% prevalence of HBsAg in children 5 years of age, it is necessary to attain 90% coverage for both the third dose of hepatitis B vaccine (C.3.a) and 90% coverage for the PMTCT of HBV, which can include timely birth dose with or without peripartum prophylaxis (C.3.b) *(3)*. These coverage targets should be reached by 2030.

Impact indicators

As per the GHSS on viral hepatitis, the 2020 global milestone will be a prevalence <1% of HBsAg in children 5 years of age. This can be achieved through vaccination, including a birth dose, and measured through biomarker surveys that estimate the prevalence of HBV infection among children (4). Web annex 5 of these guidelines outlines the framework of an approach that can be used in regions to validate the attainment of the 1% control goal through hepatitis B immunization by 2020. This framework was developed on the basis of the verification protocols from the South-East Asia Region (40) and the Western Pacific Region (41). It could be used in regions that do not yet have a verification framework. Achievement of the 2020 target will then pave the way for the more ambitious 2030 target of reducing the prevalence of HBV infection to 0.1%. The present guidelines define the interventions needed to achieve the 2030 target. Methods that will be used to validate elimination require additional work. As the prevalence of HBsAg in children 5 years of age decreases, the capacity to use biomarker surveys will be increasingly limited because of costs and a lack of statistical power to measure very low prevalence. Methods for validation of elimination will give a greater emphasis on the prospective follow up of children born to HBV-infected mothers. Mathematical modelling techniques could then be used to combine data from the prospective follow up of children born to HBV-infected mothers with biomarker survey data to estimate the prevalence of HBsAg in children 5 years of age.

5.4 Dissemination of the monitoring and evaluation framework

In addition to these guidelines, this monitoring and evaluation framework will be disseminated in the next version of the hepatitis strategic information guidelines, and in future guidance related to the triple elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV, syphilis and HBV.

TABLE. 2. Monitoring and indicator framework for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV through peripartum prophylaxis

Level	Type of		Definition of the indicator for HBV PMTCT	or HBV PMTCT		Equivalen for HIV ar	Equivalent indicator for HIV and syphilis
		Indicator	Numerator	Denominator	Source of data	ΝН	Syphilis
Context	ANC care	Coverage of first ANC visit	Number of women attending at least one ANC	Number of pregnant women	Maternal and child health programme	Yes	Yes
	Deliveries	Coverage of assisted deliveries	Number of deliveries attended by a health-care worker	Number of deliveries	Maternal and child health programme	Yes	Yes
Process/ output of services	Testing	Proportion of women tested for HBsAg	Number of women tested for HBsAg	Number of women attending at least one ANC	Monitoring of ANC registers, in vitro diagnostics registers	Yes	Yes
		Proportion of women testing positive for HBsAg	Number of women testing positive for HBsAg	Number of women tested for HBsAg	Monitoring of ANC registers, in vitro diagnostics registers	Yes	Yes
		Proportion of HBsAg + women tested for HBV DNA or HBeAg	Number of women tested for HBV DNA or HBeAg	Number of women testing positive for HBsAg	Monitoring of ANC registers, in vitro diagnostics registers	Yes	Yes
	Management of the mother	Proportion of HBsAg + mothers eligible for prophylaxis	Number of HBsAg + women eligible for prophylaxis	Number of HBsAg + women tested for HBV DNA or HBeAg	Monitoring of ANC registers, in vitro diagnostics registers	Yes	Yes
		Proportion of eligible women who receive antivirals for prophylaxis	Number of eligible women receiving antivirals	Number of HBsAg + women eligible for prophylaxis	Monitoring of ANC registers	Yes	Yes

Level	Type of		Definition of the indicator for HBV PMTCT	r HBV PMTCT		Equivalen for HIV ar	Equivalent indicator for HIV and syphilis
	Indicator	Indicator	Numerator	Denominator	Source of data	ΗΙ	Syphilis
	Management of the infant	Proportion of exposed newborns receiving a timely birth dose	Number of exposed newborns receiving hepatitis B vaccine within 24 hours of life	Number of newborns born to HBsAg positive mothers	Maternity registers Immunization registers	No	No
		Proportion of exposed newborns receiving HBIG	Number of newborns receiving HBIG	Number of newborns born to HBsAg positive mothers	Maternity registers	No	No
		Proportion of all newborns receiving a timely birth dose	Number of newborns receiving hepatitis B vaccine within 24 hours of life	Number of newborns	Maternity registers Immunization registers	No	No
		Proportion of infants tested for infection at $7-12$ months of age ⁸	Number of infants tested at 7–12 months of age	Number of infants born to HBsAg positive mothers	Programme records	Yes	Yes
Outcome	Rate of mother- to-child transmission	Incidence of HBV infection in children born to HBsAg positive mothers	Number of HBsAg positive infants at post-vaccination serological testing	Number of infants tested at 7–12 months of age	Follow up of infants born to HBsAg positive mothers	Yes	Yes
Impact	Cumulative incidence in children 5 years of age	Cumulative incidence of HBV infection in children 5 years of age ⁿ	Number of HBsAg positive children	Number of children tested	Biomarker survey Mathematical modelling	No	0 N

ANC: antenatal care; HBIG: hepatitis B immune globulin; HBeAg: hepatitis B e antigen; HBsAg: hepatitis B surface antigen; HBV: hepatitis B virus

g Children can be tested after completion of the third dose.

h The prevalence of HBsAg in children 5 years of age is a surrogate indicator of the cumulative incidence of chronic HBV infection.

REFERENCES

- 1. Global hepatitis report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/255016/1/9789241565455-eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 2 April 2020).
- Beasley RP, Hwang LY, Lee GC, Lan CC, Roan CH, Huang FY, et al. Prevention of perinatally transmitted hepatitis B virus infections with hepatitis B immune globulin and hepatitis B vaccine. Lancet. 1983;2(8359):1099–102.
- WHO global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016–2021: towards ending viral hepatitis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (http:// apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/246177/1/WHO-HIV-2016.06-eng. pdf?ua=1, accessed 2 April 2020).
- Consolidated strategic information guidelines for viral hepatitis: planning and tracking progress towards elimination. Geneva: World Health organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/310912/9789241515191eng.pdf accessed 21 November 2019).
- 5. Hepatitis B vaccines. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2009;84(40):405–19.
- 6. Hepatitis B vaccines: WHO position paper, July 2017. Wkly Epidem Rec. 2017;92(27):369–92.
- Global Health Observatory data [online database]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/gho/immunization/hepatitis/en/, accessed 20 December 2019).
- WHO/UNICEF joint reporting process. Geneva: World Health Organization/ UNICEF; 2019 (https://www.who.int/immunization/monitoring_surveillance/ data/en/, accessed 21 November 2019).
- Burk RD, Hwang LY, Ho GY, Shafritz DA, Beasley RP. Outcome of perinatal hepatitis B virus exposure is dependent on maternal virus load. J Infect Dis. 1994;170(6):1418–23.
- 10. Eke AC, Eleje GU, Eke UA, Xia Y, Liu J. Hepatitis B immunoglobulin during pregnancy for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(2):CD008545.
- 11. Lee C, Gong Y, Brok J, Boxall EH, Gluud C. Hepatitis B immunisation for newborn infants of hepatitis B surface antigen-positive mothers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(2):CD004790.
- 12. Keane E, Funk AL, Shimakawa Y. Systematic review with meta-analysis:

the risk of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in sub-Saharan Africa. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2016;44(10):1005–17.

- Machaira M, Papaevangelou V, Vouloumanou EK, Tansarli GS, Falagas ME. Hepatitis B vaccine alone or with hepatitis B immunoglobulin in neonates of HBsAg+/HBeAg- mothers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015;70(2):396–404.
- 14. Zou H, Chen Y, Duan Z, Zhang H, Pan C. Virologic factors associated with failure to passive-active immunoprophylaxis in infants born to HBsAgpositive mothers. J Viral Hepat. 2012;19(2):e18–25.
- 15. Jourdain G, Ngo-Giang-Huong N, Harrison L, Decker L, Khamduang W, Tierney C, et al. Tenofovir versus placebo to prevent perinatal transmission of hepatitis B. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(10):911–23.
- 16. Terrault NA, Feld JJ, Lok ASF. Tenofovir to prevent perinatal transmission of hepatitis B. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(24):2348-9.
- Gerlich W, Glebe D. Tenofovir to prevent perinatal transmission of hepatitis B. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(24):2349.
- 18. Hutin Y, Desai S, Bulterys M. Preventing hepatitis B virus infection: milestones and targets. Bull World Health Organ. 2018;96(7):443-A.
- Platt L, French CE, McGowan CR, Sabin K, Gower E, Trickey A, et al. Prevalence and burden of HBV co-infection among people living with HIV: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. J Viral Hepat. 2020;27(3):294–315.
- 20. Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/154590/1/9789241549059_eng.pdf?ua=1&ua=1, accessed 20 March 2020).
- 21. Nayagam S, Thursz M, Sicuri E, Conteh L, Wiktor S, Low-Beer D, et al. Requirements for global elimination of hepatitis B: a modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(12):1399–408.
- 22. Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services for a changing epidemic: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/329966, accessed 6 December 2019).
- Guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/254621/1/9789241549981eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 2 April 2020).
- 24. World health statistics 2016: monitoring health for the SDGs, sustainable development goals. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (http://apps. who.int/iris/ bitstream/10665/206498/1/9789241565264_eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 19 November 2019).

- 25. The Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health, 2016–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who. int/life-course/partners/global-strategy/global-strategy-2016-2030/en/, accessed 19 December 2019).
- 26. Handbook for guidelines development. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://www.who.int/kms/handbook_2nd_ed.pdf, accessed 20 January 2020).
- Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64(4):383–94.
- 28. Tacke F, Kroy DC. Treatment for hepatitis B in patients with drug resistance. Annals of translational medicine. 2016;4(18):334.
- 29. Nachega JB, Uthman OA, Mofenson LM, Anderson JR, Kanters S, Renaud F, et al. Safety of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based antiretroviral therapy regimens in pregnancy for HIV-infected women and their infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;76(1):1–12.
- Malahleha M, Ahmed K, Deese J, Nanda K, van Damme L, De Baetselier I, et al. Hepatitis B virus reactivation or reinfection in a FEM-PrEP participant: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2015;9:207.
- 31. Cheng A, Jose J, Larsen-Reindorf R, Small C, Nde H, Dugas L, et al. A survey study of pregnant women and healthcare practitioners assessing the knowledge of attitudes and practices of hepatitis B management at a teaching hospital in Kumasi, Ghana, West Africa. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2015;2(4):ofv122.
- Hang Pham TT, Le TX, Nguyen DT, Luu CM, Truong BD, Tran PD, et al. Knowledge, attitudes and practices of hepatitis B prevention and immunization of pregnant women and mothers in northern Vietnam. PLoS One. 2019;14(4):e0208154.
- Han Z, Yin Y, Zhang Y, Ehrhardt S, Thio CL, Nelson KE, et al. Knowledge of and attitudes towards hepatitis B and its transmission from mother to child among pregnant women in Guangdong Province, China. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0178671.
- Marsh K, Eaton JW, Mahy M, Sabin K, Autenrieth C, Wanyeki I, et al. Global, regional and country-level 90-90-90 estimates for 2018: assessing progress towards the 2020 target. AIDS. 2019;33 (Suppl 3):S213–S226.
- Korenromp EL, Rowley J, Alonso M, Mello MB, Wijesooriya NS, Mahiane SG, et al. Global burden of maternal and congenital syphilis and associated adverse birth outcomes: estimates for 2016 and progress since 2012. PLoS One. 2019;14(2):e0211720.

- Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretrovirals for treating and preventing HIV infection. Recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (http://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/10665/208825/1/9789241549684_eng.pdf?ua=1, 20 December 2019).
- Goldstein ST, Zhou F, Hadler SC, Bell BP, Mast EE, Margolis HS. A mathematical model to estimate global hepatitis B disease burden and vaccination impact. Int J Epidemiol. 2005;34(6):1329–39.
- Ott JJ, Stevens GA, Wiersma ST. The risk of perinatal hepatitis B virus transmission: hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg) prevalence estimates for all world regions. BMC Infect Dis. 2012;12:131.
- Dumpis U, Holmes EC, Mendy M, Hill A, Thursz M, Hall A, et al. Transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in Gambian families revealed by phylogenetic analysis. J Hepatol. 2001;35(1):99–104.
- 40. Guidelines for verification of achievement of hepatitis B control target through immunization in the WHO South-East Asia Region. New Delhi: World Health Organization, Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2017.
- 41. WHO Western Pacific Regional Hepatitis B Control Verification-Instructions. Manila: World Health Organization, Regional Office for Western Pacific; 2017
- 42. Hutin Y, Nasrullah M, Easterbrook P, Nguimfack BD, Burrone E, Averhoff F, et al. Access to treatment for hepatitis B virus infection worldwide, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018;67(28):773–7.
- Cui F, Luo H, Wang F, Zheng H, Gong X, Chen Y, et al. Evaluation of policies and practices to prevent mother to child transmission of hepatitis B virus in China: results from China GAVI project final evaluation. Vaccine. 2013;31 Suppl 9:J36–42.
- Hennessey K, Mendoza-Aldana J, Bayutas B, Lorenzo-Mariano KM, Diorditsa S. Hepatitis B control in the World Health Organization's Western Pacific Region: targets, strategies, status. Vaccine. 2013;31 Suppl 9:J85–92.
- 45. Yin XR, Liu ZH, Hou JL. [Action for shield project promoting zero motherto-child transmission of hepatitis B virus]. Zhonghua gan zang bing za zhi
 = Chinese journal of hepatology. 2019;27(2):81–4.
- Global delivery care coverage and trends. Geneva: UNICEF; 2019 (https://data.unicef.org/topic/maternal-health/delivery-care/, accessed 22 November 2019).
- 47. Vaccine investment strategy. Geneva: GAVI; 2019 (https://www.gavi.org/ about/strategy/vaccine-investment-strategy/, accessed 22 November 2019).
- 48. EMTCT Plus: Framework for elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV, Syphilis, Hepatitis B, and Chagas. Washington:

Pan American Health Organization; 2017 (http://iris.paho.org/ xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/34306/PAHOCHA17009-eng. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, accessed 22 November 2019).

- 49. Murhekar MV, Murhekar KM, Sehgal SC. Epidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection among the tribes of Andaman and Nicobar Islands, India. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2008;102(8):729–34.
- Paul RC, Rahman M, Wiesen E, Patel M, Banik KC, Sharif AR, et al. Hepatitis B surface antigen seroprevalence among prevaccine and vaccine era children in Bangladesh. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2018;99(3):764–71.
- 51. Rani M, Yang B, Nesbit R. Hepatitis B control by 2012 in the WHO Western Pacific Region: rationale and implications. Bull World Health Organ. 2009;87(9):707–13.
- Measles elimination, hepatitis B control and poliomyelitis eradication. Manila: World Health Organization; 2005 (http://www.wpro.who.int/rcm/en/archives/ rc56/rc_resolutions/wpr_rc56_r08.htm, accessed 22 November 2019).
- Woodring J, Pastore R, Brink A, Ishikawa N, Takashima Y, Tohme RA. Progress toward hepatitis B control and elimination of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B Virus – Western Pacific Region, 2005–2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019;68(8):195–200.
- RegionalFrameworkfortheTripleEliminationofMother-to-ChildTransmission of HIV, Hepatitis B and Syphilis in Asia and the Pacific, 2018–2030. Manila: World Health Organization Western Pacific Region; 2018 (https:// iris.wpro.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665.1/14193/9789290618553-eng. pdf, accessed 21 November 2019).
- Wang F, Zhang G, Zheng H, Miao N, Shen L, Wang F, et al. Post-vaccination serologic testing of infants born to hepatitis B surface antigen positive mothers in 4 provinces of China. Vaccine. 2017;35(33):4229–35.
- Liu Z, Yin X, Han G, Zhang H, Wang M, Zhang W, et al. A real-world prospective study of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus in China using a mobile health application (Shield 01) (April 27, 2019) (https://papers.ssrn. com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3379817, accessed 2 April 2020).
- 57. Elimination of mother to child transmission of HIV and syphilis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.

Global Hepatitis Programme

World Health Organization Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes

20, avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Email: hepatitis@who.int

http://www.who.int/hepatitis/

